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PROGRAM
Tuesday, June 28, 2005

‑‑‑ Upon commencing at 9:28 a.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  While we're having our usual problems, we will proceed without the benefit of the technology.


[Technical difficulty]


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Leslie.


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:


MR. LESLIE:  I will speak up, sir.  Mr. Kaiser, Ms. Nowina, we alerted Board Staff to this.  I'm not sure whether you have been alerted or not, but we have reached an agreement with the Munros, who are land owners on the Hamilton-Milton leg of the proposed pipeline.  And as you know, we were negotiating with Mr. Waque, who is their counsel, throughout the day yesterday.


The agreement itself is confidential, but we would like to file it with the Board, because it does contemplate some of the provisions or provisions we feel the Board needs to know about.


For those purposes, we're requesting that the Board have an in-camera session so that we can speak to the agreement.  We expect that will take 10 to 15 minutes.


MR. KAISER:  Can you describe on the record the agreement in some generality, without disclosing the confidential aspects, or not?


MR. LESLIE:  Well, in general terms, it's an agreement that deals with compensation, as you might expect for the permanent and temporary easements that are being taken.  It also deals with some of the aspects of the construction on the property and how that will be done and how it will be managed.


It also ‑‑ this property is a property that has been landscaped and has two artificial ponds on it, and one of the ponds will be impacted by the proposed construction, so that is a factor.  There is also some detail on how the property will be restored after the construction.


But there is a provision in the agreement that contemplates the continuing involvement of the Board, and it's that provision that I want to speak to.


MR. KAISER:  Is the confidential aspect the amount of compensation or...


MR. LESLIE:  Yes.  And also the other details of the agreement.  We wouldn't normally file these agreements, at all.  They're generally not on the record.  We either settle with the land owners or we don't, and, if we don't, then you're into an expropriation.  That hasn't happened in 15 years, I don't think.  But it's unusual to file them.


MR. KAISER:  I take it what you want to discuss with the Board is the Board's continuing involvement?


MR. LESLIE:  Yes, that's right.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Ross, any objection to us hearing this in camera?


MR. ROSS:  No, sir, I do not.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Janigan?


MR. JANIGAN:  No objection, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Is Mr. Scully here or has gone home?  Any objections from any of the other parties?  


MR. ROWE:   No.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  With that, we will proceed in-camera.  We will take a five‑minute break.  We will alert the other parties when the in-camera session is finished.  I don't imagine it will take very long, Mr. Leslie.


MR. LESLIE:  Ten to fifteen minutes at the most.


MR. KAISER:  If that's agreeable, Mr. Millar, we will go in-camera, and then we will proceed with the balance of the case after that.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Yes.  Mr. Chairman, if I could ask, sir, if you could provide some guidance with respect to argument, form and timing and so on, when we resume?


MR. KAISER:  Our hope, Mr. Gruenbauer, was to hear argument orally today and to render a decision today.  So our hope would be we will get ‑‑ if counsel requests, we will have a short adjournment following the evidence to allow them to prepare argument, say, half an hour.


MR. LESLIE:  That would be sufficient, sir, yes.


MR. KAISER:  And then we will probably take an hour break and come back with our decision.  That's our hope, if that's agreeable.  Is that satisfactory, sir?


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Yes, sir.  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Five minutes.


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 9:32 a.m.


‑‑‑ On resuming at 9:40 a.m.


‑‑‑ In‑camera session commenced at 9:40 a.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.


MR. LESLIE:  I should perhaps say that apart from recording that we are having an in-camera session, I have asked the reporter not to transcribe this part of the proceeding.


MR. KAISER:  What do you think about that, Mr. Millar?  I suppose we can have a confidential transcript.  Do we need a transcript or not?


MR. MILLAR:  I'm not certain that we need one, Mr. Chair.  We would have to ensure that if there is a transcript, that it is not released with the other transcripts and kept in a sealed folder, or something of that manner, to ensure it doesn't get on the public record.


MR. KAISER:  I don't know that we need a transcript, but will you be filing any documentary material with respect to this agreement?


MR. LESLIE:  No, just the agreement itself, which you should have in front of you.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  So we do have ‑‑


MR. LESLIE:  And I think -- well, I'm going to let Mr. Waque speak to this initially, because he's more familiar with the agreement than I.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  So for the purpose of the transcript, let's agree upon this:  We will simply state that the Board is now conducting an in-camera hearing and has asked the reporter that no transcript be taken, and we will indicate when we're going back on the public record.  Mr. Waque?


--- Stop recording now.


--- Submissions made by Mr. Waque and not recorded as requested by the Board staff. 

---  Public session resumes at 10:00 a.m.  

     MR. KAISER:  Madame Reporter, we're back on the public record.  

     Mr. Leslie?  

     MR. LESLIE:  Thank you, sir.


One preliminary matter, Mr. Kaiser.  At the end of the day yesterday, the Board asked for some information having to do with the profitability analysis.  And we did send by e-mail last night, to both you and Ms. Nowina, the cover sheet for a schedule.  We have, this morning, both that cover sheet and the schedule itself, and, with your permission, I would like to file that now.  

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  

     What number is that, Mr. Millar?    

    
MR. MILLAR:  D2.2, Mr. Chair.  

EXHIBIT NO. D2.2:   PROFITABILITY ANALYSIS FILE ON BEHALF OF THE APPLICANT, BEING A COVER SHEET TOGETHER WITH SCHEDULE
     MR. KAISER:  Do we have somebody to speak to this?

     MR. LESLIE:  I'm advised, unfortunately, not.  We can certainly -- the person who prepared it -- 

     MR. KAISER:  You can probably take us through it yourself, can't you? 

     MR. LESLIE:  In a word "no".  I'm thinking the person who prepared it, Mr. Kaiser, is available by telephone, and if there are issues arising out of it -- 

     MR. KAISER:  I don't know whether there are issues or not.   I just wanted somebody just to explain for the record what they did here, that's all, as opposed to just throwing it on the record.  

     MR. LESLIE:  Well, perhaps I can have a stab at it.  

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  

     MR. LESLIE:  The question was directed at getting some indication of what the economic analysis would look like, if Union actually -- if it was based on what Union's best expectations are as to when it's going to build the various facilities in it's long-term plan.  

     So what this response does is it gives you the facilities in 2006 which are the subject matter of this application.  It then assumes that the next leg, which is Strathroy to Lobo and Parkway compression, will be completed in 2007.   And I think the evidence indicates that that is as certain as things can be, based on the results of the most recent open season.  

     It then pauses at the Bright compressor upgrade -- or the work on the Bright compressor that’s -- in the long- term plan, will take place in 2009.  And, given the need for natural gas in connection with power generation in the province, that has a strong likelihood associated with it.  

     And then the rest of the long-term project - what we refer to as the “Trafalgar Facilities Expansion Project” - is assumed to take place in year 11, which is 2018.  And that’s the Lobo compressor and the Brantford to Kirkwall leg of the pipeline.   

     And the analysis indicates that the project becomes profitable -- or, at least, the PI is greater than 1, after the 2007 facilities are completed.  

     The PI associated with the entire project is 1.13.   Following the facilities in 2007, the PI is 1.02.  

     There is -- in the second paragraph of the text, there is a notation that -- Ms. Callingham dealt with this yesterday.  There are certain changes to the depreciation rates which will improve the profitability analysis, and she just noted that that takes the PI, for the long term, at least, to 1.16.  

     There is a final paragraph, which was really meant to indicate that -- Mr. Isherwood, when he was here yesterday, spoke about the range of M12 rates that have existed over the past ten years or so.  I think he indicated they've gone from 7.7 cents to 10 cents a gigaJoule.  And if you take the sort of mid-point of that historic range -- or, at least, the number that existed in 2002 after the most recent facilities expansion, Union has done some work to show you what the profitability numbers would look like using that rate.  

     That's really indicative of what the going forward situation may look like, because the current rates reflect the effect of depreciation over the past three years or so.  

     Further than that, I don't think I can go, Mr. Kaiser.  

     MS. NOWINA:  So, Mr. Leslie, this new schedule, you can confirm, has all the same assumptions in it as the schedules in the evidence now, section 5, schedule 9, pages 1 to 3, with the exception of the timing of the construction. 

     MR. LESLIE:  That's my understanding.  To the extent there are any changes, they're in the text -- the schedules.  

     MS. NOWINA:   Right.  Thank you.  

     MR. ROSS:  Mr. Chairman, if I may.  Because this is some new information, if possible, I do have a couple of questions about it.  I know it's maybe a touch out of order, since the witness isn't here, but I'm wondering -- they may even be questions that Mr. Leslie is able to speak to.  

     MR. KAISER:  Well, you can try Mr. Leslie, if you like.   He's here.  

     MR. LESLIE:  Yes.  And, I mean, if I don't know, we’ll make every effort to get the answers.        

MR. KAISER:   Go ahead, Mr. Ross.  

     MR. ROSS:  Mr. Chairman, my first question is, in looking at this information, I see that it goes out to 42 years.  Why is this going out to 42 years instead of the 30 years that were filed in the previous schedule 9?


MR. LESLIE:  I think what ‑‑ based on the answers yesterday, I think the answer is that it is just showing you what happens, if you add 30 to 2018, you probably get the -- it is 42 years is based on the last completed project.


Ms. Callingham gave an answer yesterday that indicated that is what she was doing when she had tacked on years after 30 years.


MR. KAISER:  The project PI, just ‑ I don't mean to interrupt, Mr. Ross - that you describe, the 1.13, is that based on 42 years or 30 years?


MR. LESLIE:  thirty years, years, I believe.


MR. ROSS:  And it says ‑‑ one follow-up question, or a couple of follow-up questions I would have.  It still assumes 42 years at the same revenues to get a PI of 1.13?


MR. LESLIE:  Give me a minute.


MR. KAISER:  I think it does, because Ms. Nowina has just pointed out if you look under 42, there is the magic number of 1.1339, so presumably this time around it is based on 42 years as opposed to 30 years.


MR. ROSS:  Thank you, sir.  One final question that I would have is:  I note on the first page of this undertaking there is a reference to a rate in effect at 2002.  The 8.4 cents per gJ per date is important in that it is the rate in effect in 2002.  What's the relevance of this historical 2002 number?


MR. KAISER:  You mean why is that the rate they have used?


MR. ROSS:  Yes.


MR. LESLIE:  It's the rate that prevailed when the most recent facility was built, so it gives you some indication of what the rates will look like -- or may look like, I should say, after completion of additional facilities.  The current rates are historically low, because there just hasn't been very much construction lately and depreciation has reduced the cost base.


So it was an attempt to show what the profitability might look like under more historically normal rates.


MR. KAISER:  Now, is that the same assumption as your earlier evidence, or not?


MR. LESLIE:  I'm sorry?


MR. KAISER:  Your earlier evidence used the same assumption, or not?


MR. LESLIE:  No.  No.  This is something that's been added.


MR. KAISER:  All right.


MS. NOWINA:  But just to clarify, Mr. Leslie, the schedules don't use 8.4.  They use 7.7.


MR. LESLIE:  No.  No.  This was just an add-on that people thought might be useful.


MR. KAISER:  And the earlier evidence was based on 7.7, as well?


MR. LESLIE:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  Does that help you, Mr. Ross?


MR. ROSS:  Yes, sir, it does.  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Janigan?


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes, just one question.  This assumes that only 25 percent of the Dawn compressor costs are being allocated to the facilities, the Trafalgar facility's expansion program, I assume?  Am I correct on that?


MR. LESLIE:  Just give me a minute.


I don't know the answer to that, and I think I will have to get it for you.  I think the answer is no, that the entire cost is in here for the longer-term analysis, but I don't know that for sure.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Leslie, are you providing an undertaking to get that information?


MR. LESLIE:  Sure.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.


MR. MILLAR:  This is a related point, so I'm wondering if you could -- it would seem to me that that 75 percent probably does fall in there, so if the 75 percent is incorporated somewhere in there, perhaps you could indicate as part of that undertaking in what year it comes into play.  And that would be Undertaking U2.1.

UNDERTAKING NO.U2.1:  TO PROVIDE PERCENTAGE OF DAWN COMPRESSOR COSTS ALLOCATED TO TRAFALGAR EXPANSION PROGRAM.


MR. LESLIE:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  Perhaps I can ask for an additional ‑‑ can we simply get in this undertaking all of the assumptions that went in this schedule?


MR. LESLIE:  To the extent that they differ from the earlier ‑‑


MS. NOWINA:  Well, even where there is a question that's -- I think that relates to both schedules, for example, the 75 percent, get that, but also where they differ.  That would be helpful.


MR. LESLIE:  If they differ at all.


MS. NOWINA:  If they differ, yes.


MR. LESLIE:  I'm sorry about the ‑‑ we should have anticipated the need for the witness.


MR. ROSS:  If I may add, with respect to those assumptions, I believe it would be helpful for us to get a sense of the volumes per year, as well.


MR. KAISER:  Can you provide that, Mr. Leslie?


MR. LESLIE:  I'm sorry, the volumes?


MR. ROSS:  The volumes per year, that are added each year.


MR. KAISER:  Presumably they're volumes underpinning the revenues.


MR. LESLIE:  That would be my assumption.  I wonder if you can just give me a minute.

MR. KAISER:  Yes, certainly.


MR. LESLIE:  I think it is fair to say that I'm not going to make a very good witness.  We're getting those questions to Ms. Callingham and hopefully we will have the answer shortly.  There is a possibility that she may be available in Toronto and, if she is, we will try and have her re-attend, so if there are any follow-ups --


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Let's proceed on that basis.  Is that acceptable, Mr. Ross?


MR. ROSS:  Yes, sir.


MR. KAISER:  Start with the next panel, Mr. Leslie.


MR. LESLIE:  Thank you very much.  The next panel are Mr. Mallette, who you know already, Mr. Schmidt, Mr. Wilton, Ms. MacMillan and Mr. Wesenger.  I wonder if the witnesses could be sworn.


UNION GAS LIMITED - PANEL 2: 


Beverley H. Wilton; Sworn. 


David Paul Wesenger; Sworn.


Gerry Mallette; Previously Sworn.


Douglas Schmidt; Sworn.


Margaret Anne MacMillan; Sworn.


EXAMINATION BY MR. LESLIE:

MR. LESLIE:  Mr. Mallette, I will start with you.  You have already been introduced.  You are the project manager for this project.  Your evidence, for purposes of your appearance on this panel, is found in section 6 of the pre-filed evidence dealing with facilities construction?


MR. MALLETTE:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. LESLIE:  And you are also responsible for the interrogatory responses that are indicated beside your name in Exhibit -- or at least in the matrix which is included in Exhibit D1.1?


MR. MALLETTE:  Yes, I am.


MR. LESLIE:  I understand that there is one revision to your evidence that you wish to make, having to do with changes to the code?


MR. MALLETTE:  Yes.  In section 6, paragraph 12 of the pre-filed evidence, subsequent to filing the application the technical standards and safety authority have adopted the CSA Z662‑03 addition of the oil and gas pipeline standard.  Union Gas will comply with such standard in addition, and the text found in section 6, paragraph 12, should be changed from CSA Z662-99 to CSA Z662-03.  

     MR. LESLIE:  Does that change make any difference to any of the other aspects of your evidence? 

     MR. MALLETTE:  No, it makes no change.  

     MR. LESLIE:  Subject to that, do you adopt your evidence, Mr. Mallette? 

     MR. MALLETTE:  Yes, I do.  

     MR. LESLIE:  Mr. Schmidt, you are Union Gas's specialist for construction permitting. 

     MR. SCHMIDT:  That is correct.  

     MR. LESLIE:  And your work involves, essentially, environmental planning, as I understand it. 

     MR. SCHMIDT:  That is correct. 

     MR. LESLIE:  And your evidence, for purposes of this panel, is found at sections 5 and section 7 of the pre-filed evidence dealing with the environmental issues? 

     MR. SCHMIDT:  Yes, it is.  

     MR. LESLIE:  All right.  I understand that there are some updates to your evidence, I guess, starting with section 7, page 3? 

     MR. SCHMIDT:  Yes.  In section 7 of the pre-filed evidence, paragraph number 6 and number 8, the Ontario Pipeline Coordinating Committee Reviews occurred in February, 2005, rather than January, 2005.  

     And secondly, Union Gas is in receipt of a letter from the chair of the OPCC confirming the completion of the OPCC review of the environment reports and updates for the proposed 2006 Trafalgar Facilities Expansion Program.  

     MR. LESLIE:  Could you, briefly, describe for us what the OPPC (sic) is, and does?  

     MR. SCHMIDT:  Yes.  The Ontario Pipeline Coordinating Committee is made up of nine to ten different Ontario ministries that comment on our reports.  

     MR. LESLIE:  And my understanding is that that committee is chaired by a member of the Board Staff. 

     MR. SCHMIDT:  That is correct. 

     MR. LESLIE:  And the letter you received is, in effect, their advising you that they don't have any issues with the project. 

     MR. SCHMIDT:  That is correct.  

     MR. LESLIE:  Finally, I understand there is an update to one of your interrogatory responses, Number 69 -- Board Staff Number 69.  

     MR. SCHMIDT:  Yes.  

     MR. LESLIE:  Could you give that now?  

     MR. SCHMIDT:  The final update refers to the 2005 OPCC review for Brook to Strathroy.  Union now has received comment from the Ministry of Natural Resources, Aylmer Office.  The summary table has been updated, and I believe it has been provided.  

     MR. LESLIE:  I will ask Mr. Wachsmith to pass that out.  That is the Interrogatory Number 69 Response -- Number 69, and it's been updated to show the MNR is satisfied with the project. 

     MR. SCHMIDT:  Yes.  

     MR. KAISER:  The letter, Mr. Leslie, that you referred to, is that in the record? 

     MR. LESLIE:  The letter that you referred to, Mr. Schmidt, from the chair of the Ontario Pipeline Coordinating Committee, is that available? 

     MR. SCHMIDT:  That is available.  

     MR. LESLIE:  I don't have copies of that, sir, but I will file it at the earliest opportunity. 

     MR. KAISER:  We will mark it now and copies can be made at the break, Mr. Millar.  

     MR. MILLAR:  I believe that is D 2.3, Mr. Chair.  

EXHIBIT NO. D 2.3:   LETTER RECEIVED BY UNION FROM THE MINISTRY OF NATURAL RESOURCES, AYLMER OFFICE, 2005, RE OPCC REVIEW FOR BROOK TO STRATHROY
     MR. LESLIE:  Subject to those comments, Mr. Schmidt, do you adopt your evidence on the environmental issues? 

     MR. SCHMIDT:  Yes, I do.  

     MR. LESLIE:  Mr. Wilton, you are Union Gas' manager of land department? 

     MR. WILTON:  I am. 

     MR. LESLIE:  And your evidence, for the purposes of these proceedings, is in section 8 of the pre-filed evidence dealing with land matters. 

     MR. WILTON:  That's correct. 

     MR. LESLIE:  And the matrix which is part of the Exhibit D.1 -- D 1.1, indicates you were responsible for certain interrogatory responses.  Can you confirm that? 

     MR. WILTON:  I do.  

     MR. LESLIE:  And I understand that you have, I guess, again, some updates to your evidence.  The first relates to easement areas that are required for purposes of the project, as I understand it.  And there is a blue page update, which I will ask Mr. Wachsmith to circulate.   

     Do you have that in front of you, sir? 

     MR. WILTON:  I do.  

     MR. LESLIE:  I’ll wait so others have it, as well.    

     Perhaps, Mr. Wilton, you can just explain the nature of the changes to the evidence dealing with easement requirements.  

     MR. WILTON:  Yes.  The schedule is a summary of the properties along the Hamilton to Milton section.  The areas of temporary land use have changed, as a result of closer examination of the construction requirements.   The revised areas are set out in the updated schedule.  Most of the temporary land-use agreements are in place, and there are no landowner issues with the revised temporary land-use requirements.  

     MR. LESLIE:  All right.  Thank you. 

     In addition, I understand that you're in a position to update the Board and the parties as to the status of negotiations with landowners, and can probably best do that in connection with schedule 8, page 6.  

     MR. WILTON:  That's correct.  In section 8, page 6 of 8 - sorry - and in an answer to Board Staff Interrogatory Number 68 -- 

     MR. LESLIE:  68? 

     MR. WILTON:  Yes.  There are references to the status of negotiation.  The current status of negotiations for the 45 private properties is, six of those properties are owned by agencies, either municipalities or railroads.  These rights will be assembled closer to the time of construction.  There are no issues with these properties.  

     Twenty-eight of the properties are now signed.  Three properties have agreed to terms.  And we are still in active negotiation for eight properties.  One of those eight properties is required for temporary land use only:  that is the Milton Land for Investments Limited property.  This property may not be required at all for the project, but if it is, the owners have no objection to granting us temporary land use.  

     And that's my update of the current status of negotiations 

     MR. LESLIE:  Perhaps I missed it, but I'm looking at Interrogatory Number 68, and it indicates that there are two landowners -- 13 landowners who are continuing active negotiations.  Is that number still accurate? 

     MR. WILTON:  No.  The active number is now eight. 

     MR. LESLIE:  Now eight.  The remaining five have signed agreements? 

     MR. WILTON:  That's correct.  

     MR. LESLIE:  And, again, the interrogatory response indicates there are two landowners who are not currently negotiating with Union.  Was one of those the Monros? 

     MR. WILTON:  Yes.  

     MR. LESLIE:  So there is now one __ 

     MR. WILTON:  There is one property, the Rozakis property, and we have not been successful in -- to have meetings that would allow us to proceed with negotiations for that particular property.  

     MR. KAISER:   What does that mean?  They're simply refusing to negotiate? 

     MR. WILTON:  That's correct, sir.   That’s not even to get them to agree to a meeting with Union. 

     MR. KAISER:  What was the name of that property owner? 

     MR. WILTON:  It's the Rozakis property.  It's the very first property on the west end of the project.  

     MR. LESLIE:  Well would it be fair to say, Mr. Wilton, your expectation is that, subject to Mr. Rozakis’ land rights, there will likely not be an issue in the completion of this project? 


MR. WILTON:  Yes.  I think that is fair to say, that there will not be an issue with completion of the project, yes.


MR. LESLIE:  All right.  Ms. MacMillan, your evidence is voluminous and is found at volume 2 of the pre-filed evidence.


You are an environmental specialist employed with Echo Plans Limited?


MS. MACMILLAN:  That's correct


MR. LESLIE:  And your resume is included in the resumes that were filed yesterday as part of Exhibit D1.1?


MS. MACMILLAN:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. LESLIE:  And you have, as I understand it, appeared in front of the Ontario Energy Board before in connection with matters of this kind?


MS. MACMILLAN:  I have, yes.


MR. LESLIE:  Are there any corrections or changes you wish to make to the environmental report dealing with the Brooke to Strathroy section of the project?  


MS. MACMILLAN:  Not changes with the environmental report, per se, but there is one minor correction to one of the Board Staff interrogatories.


MR. LESLIE:  All right.  Could you give that to us?


MS. MACMILLAN:  It's Board Staff Interrogatory No. 81, and if you refer to the top of page 2 in the table, it's in relation to species at risk and where they have been recorded in relation to the preferred route for the proposed pipeline.  


Greenside Darter, at the top of page 2, the second statement indicates it was not identified.  That "not" is an error.  It should, in fact, just say it was identified in the NHIC search, and that is consistent with the balance of our evidence in Interrogatory 72 and in tab 1 of volume 3 in our update report.


MR. LESLIE:  All right.  Thank you for that.  At this point, based on the work that you have done, your knowledge of the project, are there any environmental issues which are likely to, in any way, impede the implementation of this project or prevent it from occurring?


MS. MACMILLAN:  Not in my opinion, with the implementation of the mitigation measures as proposed.


MR. LESLIE:  And do you adopt the evidence found in volume 2 of the pre-filed evidence?


MS. MACMILLAN:  I do.


MR. LESLIE:  Thank you.  Mr. Wesenger, your evidence is found at volume 3 of the pre-filed evidence and it deals with the Hamilton to Milton section of the proposed project.


MR. WESENGER:  That is correct.


MR. LESLIE:  And you are an environmental consultant working with STANTEC Consulting Limited?


MR. WESENGER:  Yes, I am.


MR. LESLIE:  And there are three reports included in volume 3, the most recent of which is one that was done by STANTEC.  The other two were done by Acres International and Acres Associates in 1991 and 2002.  Can you confirm to the Board that you are ‑- you have reviewed the earlier reports and that your most recent report is really a validation of those earlier reports and with any necessary revisions?


MR. WESENGER:  That is correct.


MR. LESLIE:  And I understand that there is one correction that you wish to make -- or update, I should say, to an interrogatory response.  It's Board Staff No. 88, I believe.


MR. WESENGER:  Yes.  In response to Board Staff Interrogatory 88, Board Staff was seeking an update to the route alignment of the proposed pipeline across lots 5 and 6, Concession 9, in the former Township of Flamborough.


In its response, Union indicated that Conservation Halton could not state a position regarding the acceptability of the revised alignment until the site visit was completed.


Subsequent to Union Gas filing the response to Board Staff Interrogatory 88 on May 13th, Conservation Halton advised us, on May 18th, that they did not require a site visit and that they had no objection to the revised alignment.


MR. LESLIE:  Mr. Wesenger, I should get you to confirm that your resume is also included in the package that was filed yesterday.  It's part of Exhibit D1.1.  And just briefly, can you confirm that you have about 15 years of experience working on environmental aspects, environmental reports of pipeline and other similar‑type projects, including one year on the staff of the Ontario Energy Board?


MR. WESENGER:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. LESLIE:  And it looked to me, from reviewing your summary -- your resume, I should say, as if you had been involved in the environmental reporting and assessment of a number of pipeline projects.


MR. WESENGER:  Yes, I have.


MR. LESLIE:  And you have appeared before the Board before as an expert witness?


MR. WESENGER:  Yes, I have.


MR. LESLIE:  There are, in the matrix that was filed as part of Exhibit D1.1, interrogatory responses beside your name.


You are responsible for those responses?


MR. WESENGER:  Yes, I am.


MR. LESLIE:  And one final question.  Based on ‑‑ given the settlement with Ms. Munro and the work that you have done and your understanding of the project at this stage, are there any environmental issues that you are aware of with respect to the Hamilton-Milton leg of the pipeline that could prevent that project from going forward?


MR. WESENGER:  Not to my knowledge, provided Union applies the recommended mitigation measure.


MR. LESLIE:  And do you adopt your evidence, sir, in volume 3 and the interrogatory responses indicated?


MR. WESENGER:  I do.


MR. LESLIE:  Thank you.  Those are my questions of the panel, Mr. Chair.  We now have copies of the Ontario Pipeline Coordinating Committee letter.


MR. KAISER:  I think you reserved a number for that, Mr. Millar.  That was D2.3, was it?


MR. MILLAR:  Exhibit D2.4, I believe.


MR. LESLIE:  My note was 2.3.  Is it 2.4?


MR. MILLAR:  I had 2.3 as the letter from O.P.C.C.


MR. LESLIE:  That's it.


MR. MILLAR:  Oh, this is the letter.  I'm sorry, my mistake.  Yes, that would be D2.4.

EXHIBIT NO. D2.4:  ONTARIO PIPELINE COORDINATING COMMITTEE LETTER

MR. LESLIE:  The witnesses are available for cross‑examination.  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Janigan?


MR. JANIGAN:  No questions of this panel, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Ross?


MR. ROSS:  No questions, sir.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Gruenbauer?


MR. GRUENBAUER:  No questions, sir.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Roe?


MR. ROWE:  No, sir.  


MR. SCULLY:  No questions, sir. 


MR. KAISER:  No questions, Mr. Scully?  


MR. SKULLY:  No, no questions, sir.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Mr. Millar?


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. MILLAR:


MR. MILLAR:  Dealing first with the issue, again, of this revised section 5, schedule 2, I noted that you have increased the thickness of the pipe, is that correct, for a certain section?


MR. MALLETTE:  Actually, the pipe wall thickness has been decreased for a section.


MR. MILLAR:  Oh, decreased, pardon me.  I note, however, that this decrease in thickness has not changed the price of the project at all.


Can you explain why there has been no impact on the cost?


MR. MALLETTE:  Yes.  The schedule, as submitted, is based on estimated and historical costs.  We now have gone to the market and have a firm bid for the pipe in hand, and, as it turns out, the costs are very close to what we have in our schedule.  So we decided not to change the schedule.


MR. MILLAR:  Can you explain a little bit why the thickness was decreased in this section of pipe?


MR. MALLETTE:  Yes.  Union constantly reviews the class locations along its pipelines, and, subsequent to filing the application in this case, another class location review was done in the section.  And it was decided that, because of various factors - such as the Greenbelt legislation that has been enacted - that the chance of having class 3 pipe required from one end to the other, as originally thought, is no longer necessary.  

     As a result, some sections of class 2 have now been substituted for those class 3 locations.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you. 

     I would like to move on to the issue of easements, now.  We heard some evidence in-chief, and that was helpful, but just a few follow-up questions.  

     I heard that there are negotiations ongoing with eight property owners; is that correct? 

     MR. WILTON:  That's correct.  

     MR. MILLAR:   And just to be clear, is that for both sections of the pipe?  Or is that -- was that just for the Hamilton-Milton section? 

     MR. WILTON:  That is just for the Hamilton-Milton section.  Brooke-Strathroy section of the easement requirements are in place for that section.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So, for Brooke-Strathroy, every easement is taken care of? 

     MR. WILTON:  That's correct. 

     MR. MILLAR:  But for Hamilton-Milton, there are eight outstanding? 

     MR. WILTON:  Mm-hmm. 

     MR. MILLAR:   And one of those eight is the Rozakis property? 

     MR. WILTON:  Yes. 

     MR. MILLAR:   And I'm not sure if I heard you correctly, but I thought I heard you say that the lack of an easement here would not be an issue for the construction of the pipeline.  I'm wondering if you could explain what you meant by that -- or if I misheard you?  

     MR. WILTON:  My response is based on the requirement that Union will have, should we be successful to obtain a leave to construct the pipeline, to file for leave to expropriate those rights, if we're unable to negotiate a settlement with the Rozakis.

     MR. MILLAR:  But you agree that that’s an additional step that would have to take place, before the pipeline was constructed? 

     MR. WILTON:  Yes, it certainly is.  I would agree with that entirely. 

     MR. MILLAR:  I know you pointed us to the Rozakis property.   How long is the section of property that you would require the easement for there, approximately?  

     MR. WILTON:  The length of the permanent easement is 60 metres. 

     MR. MILLAR: 60 metres? 

     MR. WILTON:  60 metres.  

     MR. MILLAR:  And are you still attempting -- I know you’ve indicated that Mr., or Mr. and Mrs., or Mrs. Rozakis have been reluctant to negotiate.  Are you still attempting to negotiate the easement with them, or have you ceased communications with them? 

     MR. WILTON:  The last communication that we had with them was through a letter that our counsel provided to the Rozakis family.  Unfortunately, in terms of personal contacts with the Rozakis family, we have placed a number of telephone calls and asked for a meeting -- as we did do in our letter as well, asked for a meeting.  

     We have had one contact with the Rozakis personally, face-to-face, but they have indicated to us that they are not prepared to proceed with any face-to-face meetings with us.  

     MR. MILLAR:  So you're anticipating, I imagine, that an application for expropriation will be required in this case? 

     MR. WILTON:  I think that is a fair thing to anticipate, yes.  

     MR. KAISER:  How long will that delay -- if that is what you have to do, how long would it delay construction? 

     MR. WILTON:  If I could take you to the response to Interrogatory from the Board Staff, Number 67? 

     In that response, we indicated that the timing of this application is sufficient -- that Union would be able to, upon receipt of a leave to construct, follow the process to file for leave to expropriate, and complete that process, such that there would not be any delay to the construction activity.  

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  

     MR. MILLAR:  If I could turn your attention to section 8, schedule 5?  

     MR. WILTON:  I have it.  

     MR. MILLAR:  What we have here is a draft form of easement, I guess.  Am I to understand that this is the form of easement that's been offered to all the property owners? 

     MR. WILTON:  There are differences in the easements that have been offered to the Brooke-Strathroy landowners, as opposed to the easements that have been offered to the Hamilton- Milton landowners.  

     The negotiation process for the Brooke-Strathroy landowners was through a landowner committee, and there was a settlement agreement signed with that committee.  

     And, if you look at page 2 of the document -- it's labelled “page 2", but it’s the first page in the evidence.   And if you look down to clause 1, clause 1 is reflective of the terms that were negotiated with the landowner committee.  So those have been reflected in clause one.  That clause appears in all of the easements for the Brooke-Strathroy section.  It does not appear in the easements for the Hamilton-Milton section.  It is supplanted by the clause 1 that appears below on the page, and is identified as “Hamilton-Milton”.  

     MR. KAISER:  What was the date of the settlement agreement? 

     MR. WILTON:  I believe that was in February of 2003, subject to check.  Very close to that date. 

     MR. KAISER:  Okay.  

     MR. MILLAR:  And am I to understand, on the Brooke-Strathroy portion of the line, the form of easement was essentially identical?  I guess it would identify the properties differently, and presumably the compensation might be different, but otherwise the form of the easements was the same? 

     MR. WILTON:  That's correct. 

     MR. MILLAR:   And do those easements -- did the form of easement deal with site restoration matters? 

     MR. WILTON:  There are provisions in the easement that address site restoration.  There is also a letter of understanding, that is signed with each of the landowners along the Brooke-Strathroy section, and it does go into more detail on the clean-up provisions.  And there are many other provisions that deal with damages, as well.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Is there a similar letter of understanding for the Hamilton-Milton portion of the line? 

     MR. WILTON:  There is no similar document for Hamilton-Milton. 

     MR. MILLAR:   And why is that? 

     MR. WILTON:  Very early on in the negotiations for the Hamilton-Milton line, and, specifically, at the open houses that occurred for introduction of the project, the landowners along the route of the Hamilton-Milton line identified their desire to negotiate the property rights and the construction practices for their particular properties on an individual basis.  

     The properties are quite diverse, and Union agreed that the best way to go about addressing the construction and easement issues was on a property-by-property basis.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  And on the Hamilton-Milton section, you've indicated that the form is different from the Brooke-Strathroy line, but is the same form being offered to all the landowners? 

     MR. WILTON:  The same form is being offered to all the landowners.  

     I should make a bit of a correction here.  The document which was settled with Brooke-Strathroy is slightly different than some of the easement documents that were acquired by Union back in the 1990 era, and also, again, in 1998.  And we have said in our evidence, and we will follow up with the landowners to offer an amending agreement to their existing easements, such that the Hamilton-Milton landowners will have, at the end of the day, very similar -- exactly the same provisions as the Brooke-Strathroy landowners will have.  

     MR. MILLAR:  And I'm assuming, with the eight outstanding easements, the basis of those negotiations is on this same form of easement? 

     MR. WILTON:  That's correct.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  

     Moving on -- this wasn't addressed in-chief, but there are a few references in the evidence - I'm unsure who will deal with this question - but there are a few references in the evidence to the possibility of some blasting being required to construct the line.  

     Is there someone here able to address those issues?  

 
MR. MALLETTE:  Yes, I will speak to that.


MR. MILLAR:  And I believe there is a reference to three possible locations where blasting may be required; is that correct?


MR. MALLETTE:  Actually, I'm unaware of that.  If you could direct me to the...

     MR. MILLAR:  Actually, I apologize.  Maybe you could tell me how many potential sites there would be where blasting would be required.


MR. MALLETTE:  Well, actually we expect that there will be no blasting required on this project.


First of all, for Brooke‑Strathroy, it is situated in an area with deep clay and sand deposits.  Bedrock is extremely deep and there is virtually no chance of encountering bedrock anywhere along that pipeline section with normal pipeline excavation depth.


When it comes to Hamilton to Milton, we have taken 22 bore holes scattered along the length of the pipeline, and in every circumstance we found bedrock at depths deeper than we would excavate for the pipeline.  


There is bedrock there, however, and there could be circumstances, in between the spots where we took the bore holes, where we could have an outcropping that will have to be removed.


If that is the case, and it's a relatively small outcropping, we can take that out with hoe rams, which is a hydraulic jackhammer, essentially.  It's on the end of a backhoe.  And that has been done previously with good success, and you can remove moderate amounts of rock using that process.


If, in the unlikely circumstance, we encounter long stretches of shallow bedrock, then we may to resort to blasting, and we would like to have that tool, I guess, remaining in our tool box for this project, but we don't think we're going to have to use it.


MR. MILLAR:  Is it fair to say you won't know, until you start digging, if it's required?


MR. MALLETTE:  Usually, if there is locations along the pipeline where the -- there is any chance, the contractor will go out and do some additional test pits or bore holes along the way just to check before they get there, so they can properly bring the proper equipment to the site.


So Union Gas proposes to do no further investigations, but the contractor may choose, as one of the first orders of business, to check for shallow bedrock.


MR. MILLAR:  If blasting is required, what permits are required or what approvals are required to do that?


MR. MALLETTE:  The Canada Explosives Act and regulations would be in effect.  The contractor would be responsible for acquiring all permits.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So that would be conducted by the contractor?


MR. MALLETTE:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  And I presume that they only apply if they know they're going to have to do blasting.  It is not something that is done on a just-in-case basis?


MR. MALLETTE:  That's correct.  In fact, many of them would probably hire out the actual handling of the explosives to a sub‑contractor, who would have licences in place already.  However, any site‑specific requirements would be met.


This is a standard process.  We have executed blasting on previous projects, and it can be handled quite expeditiously as the normal construction process.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  I have a couple of questions about archeological matters.  Who on the panel would be able to deal with those?


MR. SCHMIDT:  I can try to answer those questions.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  There are a couple of references in the evidence, and there are two interrogatories, relating to archeological matters.  The IRs are Board Staff IR 63 and 64, I believe.


Just to provide some background, I understand that there were eleven sites that were not previously assessed along the Brooke-Strathroy line, and there were five sites on the Hamilton-Milton line; is that correct?


MR. SCHMIDT:  That is correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And the interrogatory responses indicate that these studies will commence in May 2005.  I'm wondering if you can provide an update on these studies.


MR. SCHMIDT:  The studies have started on the Brooke‑Strathroy line, and basically they involve stage 2 assessments, and, today, nothing further has been found to advance to a stage 3 assessment.  So we're continuing that work as we speak and hope to have that work completed by the end of this field season.


MR. MILLAR:  Could you please explain the difference between a stage 2 and a stage 3 assessment?


MR. SCHMIDT:  A stage 2 is actual field examination and involves either surface survey or test pitting, so basically looking for artifacts.  A stage 3 is further test pitting, quite simply a closer look of the area to get a better handle on actually what is there.


MR. MILLAR:  Is there also a stage 4?  I'm not terribly familiar with archaeological matters, but is there a stage 4, as well?


MR. SCHMIDT:  There is a stage 4.  Stage 4 involves site excavation and salvage, so it's really removal and documentation of all artifacts.


MR. MILLAR:  So only if you found something, obviously?


MR. SCHMIDT:  That's right.


MR. MILLAR:  You would do a stage 3, and then the stage 3 would recommend going to a stage 4?


MR. SCHMIDT:  That is correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And just to make sure I'm clear, you're conducting a stage 2 assessment and it is ongoing.  And so far, nothing has been found which would indicate a stage 3 is necessary?


MR. SCHMIDT:  That is correct.  That's on the Brooke‑Strathroy line.


MR. MILLAR:  Now, what about the other line?


MR. SCHMIDT:  The Hamilton‑Milton line, there's been quite extensive work done on the Hamilton‑Milton line.


There has been stage 2 and 3 assessment work, and the stage 3 assessment work has determined that two sites will require stage 4 assessment work.


MR. MILLAR:  When will the stage 4 analyses begin?


MR. SCHMIDT:  They have begun on what is called the pipeline site.  The second site is the Borsok site.  We've been at the pipeline site, I believe, for around six weeks now, and so far no further developments, and we're looking at moving towards the Borsok site hopefully in the next couple of weeks.


MR. MILLAR:  Will -- these stage 4 assessments, is it possible they will delay construction?


MR. SCHMIDT:  The -- I guess the advantage of doing it this season, it will not delay construction.


MR. MILLAR:  Are you certain it won't?  The assessment hasn't been conducted yet, has it?


MR. SCHMIDT:  Basically, what -- we're out there looking for artifacts and so on, and something that could slow up things would be a burial, but there is plenty of time to handle issues with burial based on our 2006 proposed construction start.


MR. MILLAR:  So it is possible, however -- or maybe you could tell me.  Is it possible that a change in the route of the pipe will be required?


MR. SCHMIDT:  Not at this time.  We've worked quite extensively with the Ministry of Culture on this, about routing.  They've agreed with our work plan.  They have agreed to the stage 4 that we are doing at the pipeline site and the Borsok site.  In fact, they have provided a letter that avoiding these sites could actually lead to finding more significant sites, as the area is so rich in archaeological resources.


MR. MILLAR:  But until the stage 4 or -- sorry, the level ‑‑ yes, the stage 4 assessment is completed, you won't know for certain, will you?


MR. SCHMIDT:  For certain what is there, no, not until it is completed, absolutely not.


MR. MILLAR:  So there is a possibility, albeit slight, I think is what we're hearing from you, that there may be some re-routing required? 


MR. SCHMIDT:  No, that's incorrect.  I guess if a burial were found, there are measures to address the burial to keep on the same route.


MR. MILLAR:  I see.


MR. SCHMIDT:  And, again, the Ministry of Culture has supported the approach on this, so there is not a routing change.


MR. MILLAR:  But there would be some manner of additional work?

     MR. SCHMIDT: We have adopted or are proposed to do certain mitigation at these sites, which I can share with you.  We have already agreed to narrow the easement at this site.  In other words, we've narrowed it by four metres.  We’ve taken away the passing zone in these sites, to limit the impact to the site. 

     We have agreed to move topsoil out of the sites, and store the topsoil in areas that are not of concern for archeology.  

     We are putting up protective fencing, so we have no accidental diversions off the easement for whatever reason.  

     We are proposing to install signage to identify that we have an environmentally-sensitive area. 

      And finally, we have agreed to an archeological consultant to be on site as we excavate our trench through the archeological site.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And when do you anticipate -- I'm now speaking of both lines:  when do you anticipate that all of these studies will be completed? 

     MR. SCHMIDT:  I anticipate that we’ll have these studies all completed by the end of this field season, which would roughly work into the -- around November, then end of November.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay. 

     Thank you, those are my questions.  

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Millar. 

     Any re-examination, Mr.  Leslie? 

     MR. LESLIE:  Just one question, for Mr. Wilton. 

RE-EXAMINATION BY MR. LESLIE: 

     MR. LESLIE:  Mr. Wilton, you mentioned that there had been some correspondence involving Mr. Rozakis, most recently a letter that I wrote.  Can you confirm for the Board that an offer of compensation has been made to Mr. Rozakis, consistent with Union's normal methodology for determining compensation? 

     MR. WILTON:  Yes.  We did provide Mr. Rozakis, personally, with an offer that is consistent with our common practices.  

     MR. LESLIE:  And you are fully prepared to offer him, if and when appropriate, agreements in forms approved by the Board? 

     MR. WILTON:  We are.  

     MR. LESLIE:  Thank you.  Those are all my questions.  

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you. 

     The panel can step down.  

     Mr.  Leslie, did I see that Ms. Callingham is back? 

     MR. LESLIE:  Yes, you did.  And with your permission, I think it might be easiest if she simply re-attended and answered the questions that I was trying to deal with earlier.  

     MR. KAISER:  Do you need a break to talk to her? 

     MR. LESLIE:  No, I don't think so.  Miss Hockin has briefed her on what the nature of the questions were.  

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  

     Thank you, gentlemen.  

     MR. LESLIE:  Ms. Callingham, do you have the undertaking response? 

     MS. CALLINGHAM:  Yes, I do.  

     MR. LESLIE:   It’s U1.1.  And I understand you can deal with the issues that have been raised. 

     If you like, Mr. Chair, I can just ask the questions as I understood them, and then people can --

     MR. KAISER:  Yes, go ahead.  

     MR. LESLIE:  -- correct me if I get it wrong. 

     The first issue -- the first question was how the compressor costs -- the Dawn compressor costs have been dealt with.   That is the remaining 75 percent in the schedule.  

     MS. CALLINGHAM:  The full compressor facilities utilized by 2007 in the schedule -- if you refer to section 5, schedule 10, the Dawn compressor costs that were part of the future facilities on that schedule were slotted in in ‘07.   So, in addition to the 25 percent that was included in 2006, I added another 15.7 million in '07. 

     MR. LESLIE:  And the other question was whether there were any differences in the assumptions -- or otherwise, I guess -- well, in the assumptions, between this schedule and the -- I believe it's schedule 9, section 5, that was the point of reference for this schedule.  

     MS. CALLINGHAM:  There were two changes in assumptions.  The first was, as I delayed the facilities beyond 2007 year, I added inflation to the capital cost, up to the point when they were planned to go into service.  So I inflated the capital cost.  

     The other change -- it's really not a change in, I guess, assumption, from the analysis that was done where I had delayed the facilities, previously, until 2018.  I had actually extended the term of the analysis to 42 years.  This was done because the maximum time-frame over which revenue is recognized in the analysis is a 30-year period, based on guidelines for feasibility analysis that the Board has issued in the past.  So I went 30 years beyond the date that the last facility was in service.  

     MR. LESLIE:  And finally, from my notes, Mr. Janigan asked a question about the volumes that you had assumed in doing this analysis -- the volumes being transported.  

     MS. CALLINGHAM:  To answer that question, I can refer you to tab 2, Interrogatory Number 2.  This is an Enbridge interrogatory.  

     On that response, we had outlined the capacity associated with the different facility segments.  In 2007, I assumed that Strathroy to Lobo and Parkway compression were installed, and I added 547,675 gJ per day.  

     When I added the Bright-C compressor in 2009, I added 359,974 gJ per day.  When I added the Lobo compressor and the Brantford to Kirkwall pipeline segment in 2018, I added the balance of the capacity that’s shown for Lobo compressor and the Brantford to Kirkwall 

     So, in total, I was allocating the same sum of Dawn-Trafalgar capacity as I had originally included in section 5, schedule 9.  

     MR. LESLIE:  Those are my notes, sir.  Ms. Callingham, obviously, can answer any follow-up questions.  

     MR. KAISER:  Just to clarify.  The project PI which you show in the little square on the second page, 1.1339:  is that based on 30 years, or 42? 

MS. CALLINGHAM:  It's based on the 42‑year time frame for the analysis.  The revenues for each of the facilities that are installed are only recognized for a maximum of a 30‑year period.


So as I get out to year 31 in the analysis, I start removing the revenues associated with the earlier facility additions, and, by year 42, the only revenues that are recognized in the analysis are the revenues for the last facility and additions in 2018.


MR. KAISER:  If we use 30 years, is the number 1.0962?


MS. CALLINGHAM:  Yes, it is.


MR. KAISER:  And in your earlier analysis, that is to say the similar document that was included in your evidence, you used 30 years in calculating the project PI?


MS. CALLINGHAM:  I used -- in section 5, I still used 30 years beyond the timing of the facilities addition.  So that analysis actually went out to a 31‑year period.


When I did the analysis where I assumed that if they were all delayed eleven years, I still got a PI of 1.  I did go out to 42 years in that particular analysis, because I went 30 years beyond the date of the last facility that was installed.


MR. KAISER:  There's some confusion.  I think it is clear now.  You make a statement in the covering document about this 8.4 cents rate, but for the purpose of calculating the revenues, you used the same -- in this document, you used the same 7.7 that you used in the previous document?


MS. CALLINGHAM:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Janigan, do you have any questions?


MR. JANIGAN:  I don't believe I have any other questions on this, Mr. Chairman.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Ross?


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. ROSS:

MR. ROSS:  Mr. Chairman, just one follow-up question in respect of Dawn compression.  Were full costs of that compression added in your 2006 figure?


MS. CALLINGHAM:  No.


MR. ROSS:  When are those full costs added in, in your analysis?


MS. CALLINGHAM:  For purposes of the analysis that was filed and the current analysis on the longer‑term plan, we had only included $24 million of cost for the compressor facility.


That ‑‑ although we were utilizing the full horsepower for the compressor to meet the demands that are in the long‑term plan, not all of the costs were allocated to THE Dawn‑Trafalgar transmission program.


MR. ROSS:  Thank you.  


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Scully, any questions?  


MR. SKULLY:  No questions, thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Gruenbauer?


MR. GRUENBAUER:  No, sir.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Rowe.


MR. ROWE:  No, sir.  


MR. KAISER:  Any follow-up, Mr. Leslie?


MR. LESLIE:  No, I don't think so, sir.


MR. KAISER:  We will take a break.  Would half an hour be sufficient to allow you to prepare for argument?


MR. LESLIE:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  Any idea how long you might be?


MR. LESLIE:  Well, in‑chief I won't be long, sir.  My plan was to just give you a bit of a road map, and probably 15 minutes.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Ross, any idea how long you will be?


MR. ROSS:  Fairly brief, sir.  I would say ten to fifteen minutes.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Janigan?


MR. JANIGAN:  About ten minutes, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  So we will come back in half an hour and hear the submissions.


---Recess taken at 1:15 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:45 a.m.    

     MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  

     Mr. Leslie?  

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. LESLIE:  

     MR. LESLIE:  Thank you, sir.  

     What I propose to do is simply go through the issues and in the issues list that was circulated by Board Staff and address each of those with reference to the evidence, to provide something of a road map to the evidence dealing with these various issues, and then to comment on what I perceive to be some of the specific issues arising out of the cross-examination.  

     The first issue, identified as “The Need for the Project”, that is dealt with in section 3 of the evidence.  There is, in response to a Staff interrogatory - it's Number 22 - a list of all the shippers and the quantities that they have contracted for, which shows that this pipe will be full for a period of ten years, at least.  

     Section 4, schedule 1, of the evidence is the schematic of how the existing facilities and the new facilities, in combination, meet both the existing demands on the system and the incremental demands, as a result of the contracts coming out of Union's open season.  

     As to the specific facilities that are being proposed, the various options that were reviewed, and the other options that might have been available, are dealt with in response to Staff's Question Number 38.  And the reasons that these particular segments were selected are also dealt with there, as well as in section 4 of the evidence, more generally.

     There was, I think, some question about the longer-term need for these facilities.  In Mr. Ross's cross-examination -- TCPL's cross-examination, a couple of points, I think.  First, there was, as part of the open season that Union conducted, an offer to all current shippers to turn back any capacity they felt they didn't need, and none of the shippers availed themselves of that opportunity.  That's found at section 3, paragraphs 8 to 10, of the evidence.  

     Mr. Isherwood testified, at page 28 yesterday, that the facilities proposed for 2007, given the results of the most current open season, will almost certainly go forward, or, at least, will be subject to an application to the Board.  And that's at page 28 of the evidence, I may have already said that. 

     Mr. Isherwood also testified that - and this is at pages 33 and 38 of the transcript - the demand for transportation arising out of the electrical-generation market will drive additional facilities, in his view -- or the need for additional facilities, in 2008 or 2009.  And that was reflected in the undertaking response that Ms. Callingham filed this morning.  

     The suggestion was made that LNG imports, and the replacement of natural gas from the western basin on LNG imports, may affect the way pipelines are used in eastern Canada, and the need for those pipelines.  Again, Mr. Isherwood responded to that, I think, reasonably fully, at pages 33 and 34 of the transcript, and page 36 of the transcript.  And apart from anything else, he noted that the Union Gas Dawn-Trafalgar system will still be required for storage purposes during the off-season, and that transportation to storage would be required.  

     So, in conclusion, beyond speculation, in my submission, there is no reason to conclude that the facilities that are proposed in this application will not be used and useful indefinitely.  

     The next heading is “Facilities Design and System Design and Design to Demands Capacity.”  I didn't perceive that there are were any real issues around this, but the evidence on the subject is found in section 4, again, in particular, schedule 1, which I have already referred to.  There is also an Interrogatory Response:  it's Board Staff Question 27, which deals, in some detail, with how the forecasts are arrived at, and how the system design is determined, based on those forecasts.  

     The next subject is the economics of the project.  These have been, I think, quite thoroughly reviewed.  The current proposal has a profitability index of .83.  Ms. Callingham noted at the outset of her evidence that, if the revised depreciation rates are used, that goes to .89.  

     The evidence that was filed this morning, and the testimony yesterday, indicates that, with the next increment of building on the Dawn-Trafalgar system in 2007, that PI will change to a positive number.  

     Ms. Callingham testified that, in order to do the more profitable segments -- or make the entirety of the cumulative effect profitable, you really have to do each of these segments.  And the history of this Trafalgar facilities expansion project has been such that it's done in lumps, and some of those lumps are profitable, and some of them aren't; but, in combination, they will be profitable.  There is a response to a Board Staff Interrogatory, it's Number 2, which gives the segments of the Trafalgar system what had been built in the last ten years or so, and the profitability that is associated with each of those.  And you will see that some are higher and some are lower than the present proposal.  But over all, and given the completion of the expansion project in its entirety, the projects are profitable.  

     The next heading is "Project Costs" and, specifically, impact on rates.  I will deal with the premium, as well, under that heading.  The rate impacts are shown in the response to Board Staff Interrogatory 43.  The residential rates go down.  The M12 rates go up by four to five percent; but, as Mr. Isherwood noted, the increase to -- or the projected increase to approximately -- I think it was 8.1 cents per gigaJoule is within the range -- the historic range, which he gave at 7.7 to 10 cents, with an average of 8.8 cents.  And that evidence is at pages 26, 27 and 48 of the transcript. 

     I will note, in connection with the rate increases, that three of the major customers for this capacity are TCPL, Enbridge and GMI.  TCPL was here.  Enbridge and GM I have not indicated any dissatisfaction with the situation.  They presumably appreciate that the facilities cost money, and have to be paid for.  Mr. Isherwood dealt with that, in part, at page 49 of the transcript yesterday.  

     As to the premium, I first just want to point out that we're not dealing here with a situation where Union had capacity available and was negotiating for a premium with prospective customers.  So that the concept of market power doesn't really enter into it.  And recourse rates, in my submission, aren't really relevant in that situation, either.  And Mr. Isherwood deals with this at page 72 and 74 of the transcript.  

     What happened, in fact, was there was a perceived need for additional capacity.  There was also a perception, based on the initial round of bidding - the non-binding open season - that the demand would be greater than the supply, the supply being determined by what was feasible for Union to do in the course of a year.  And they had to come up with some way of ranking the demand, or differentiating between the bids.  And what they did was, they used a combination of the amount bid and the term of the contract to value the bids.  

     Mr. Isherwood testified that the other options that were available were less attractive both to Union and to potential customers.  The other options he referred to were pro-rationing, which he said no one really favoured, including the larger shipper - and that's at page 16 of the transcript - or just using term, the length of term, and he testified that that was more likely to result in a need to pro-ration and would also be unfair to customers who weren't in a position to bid anything longer than a ten‑year term.


Having said that, I will note that the amount of the premium, the total amount, is not large in relative terms.  It is $143,000 and change.  The amount is there to be dealt with, so to speak.  Union would intend to include it in its revenue streams, and the Board can dispose of the amount as it sees fit.  


As to the principle inherent in all of this, whether there should be an ability to use these kinds -- allow people to bid a premium in order to get a higher place in the line, my submission is that that is not something that should be ‑‑ that needs to be dealt with in this case.  I think that is something that should be more fully canvassed probably in the natural gas forum, but also in the -- potentially in the context of a rate case.


The specific here is not really, I don't think, deserving of a full analysis of the principles involved, given the amount and the fact that the money is there to be disposed of.


As to the mandate, there was some question whether Union had the authority to do this.  The current rate, M12 rate schedule, provides that, under the heading "Rates":

"Multi‑year prices may also be negotiated, which may be higher or lower than the identified rates."  


Now, as I've said, these rates weren't negotiated, but Union's perception at least was that that wording allowed them some flexibility and that was the basis on which they allowed people to bid a premium.


I should also probably note that in the end, the supply didn't exceed the demand.  The supply met the demand, so no one has been prejudiced by this.


The next heading is environmental, and I will deal with route selection, as well.  I will start by noting that the evidence is there's nothing to suggest that there is any possibility that the proposed route of these two segments of pipeline will need to be changed.  At most, additional mitigation measures will have to be adopted.  


I will note that the Ontario Pipeline Coordinating Committee, which is a committee of the major interested government and, I guess, non‑government bodies, have signed‑off on the project.  They're satisfied that it can go forward.


The route selection process follows Ontario Energy Board guidelines, and earlier decisions of the Board on the -- or the optimal route, and that's dealt with in a response to one of Ms. Munro's interrogatories.  It's number 9.  


Archeology was raised this morning.  I've been asked to note that we have all summer to complete the stage 4 assessments and to obtain the clearances, which we fully expect to obtain, but at most, again, it would be a matter of additional mitigation, if necessary, and time does permit that.


Finally, I should say that Union will of course do whatever the environmental assessments -- the environmental assessment reports recommend that it should do.


Land-related issue, on Brooke‑Strathroy there are none.  There are, I think, seven landowners on the Hamilton to Milton leg who have not settled with Union yet.  Mr. Wilton indicated that he expected -- he was hopeful that there could be settlements with all but one of those landowners, and obviously we will do our best to get all landowners on side.  Offers have been made to all of those people in accordance with the requirements of the Act.


The final heading is "other permits and approvals", and I will simply note that we don't anticipate any problem.  We've got what we need at this point, and we don't anticipate any problems receiving the additional permits that may be required.  


Subject to any questions you have, those are my submissions.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Leslie.  Mr. Janigan.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. JANIGAN:  

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  VECC has intervened in this proceeding to ensure that the benefits and burdens of this expansion project are equitably shared and that, specifically, the revenues associated with the project are allocated in the fashion that, first and foremost, goes to reduce any annual shortfall or to bring up the yearly NPV.


We are further concerned with -- we were further concerned with the potential shortfalls associated with the costs of the Dawn compression expansion, in particular, the 75 percent of the Dawn compression expansion that was, in some initial schedules, not included in the NPV and PI.


Now, that being said, we note that the evidentiary record, in particular, Interrogatory No. 43, shows that with the cost allocation shifts associated with demand, residential customers will experience a modest reduction in rates.  While that is comforting, and not to look a gift horse in the mouth, as it were, we also wish to ensure that the commitments associated with the expected revenues, incremental or otherwise, associated with this project, flow in the fashion that was indicated in the evidence.


The reason we do so, and -- in part, is the fact that, as was confirmed in the evidence, this Union project will be rewarding for the Union shareholder both in improving the operation and value of the Union system as a whole, and also the return on equity, of course, associated with the capital build in addition to rate base.


Our principal focus is to ensure that the assumptions associated with these revenues are incorporated in the decision.  This has been our experience in the past that sometimes these assumptions have a way of migrating and revenues don't seem to be accorded with the same degree of certainty as expressed in the witness testimony.  


And, accordingly, we think the following should be noted in any approval:  That all M12 premiums received by Union will flow into rates and not transactional services accounts.  Currently that is the intention of Union expressed by the witness, and that is with respect to existing contracts and it should also be with respect to future contracts, should such premiums be assessed, at least until the NPV becomes into a positive position.


As well, all incremental revenues, howsoever arising, associated with this build and the facilities necessary to support this build should flow into rates, not the transactional services account.  And we note Ms. Callingham's testimony yesterday that her expectations with respect to these incremental revenues and when they would commence to flow.


Thirdly, it is important that future rates proceeding reflect the expectations associated with this revenue or have evidence why such expectations cannot be met.  This is important, of course, in a cost of service proceeding, but it is also particularly important in a price cap proceeding where we are setting rates for a number of years, and it's important that those going-in rates reflect the expectations of Union with respect to this project and not any particular shortfall arising in a particular year.


Mr. Chair, VECC has fashioned this limited intervention based on the financial interests of the constituents.  We hope that we have been responsible and be of assistance to the Board in this matter, and, accordingly, we would request our costs of our participation.  


As well, Mr. Chair, my attendance is required elsewhere in this city at about 1:30 today, and I would ask for the leave of the chair to depart these proceedings at this point in time, and I apologize to my friends for not staying for their argument or for the decision of the Board, if that is satisfactory to the Chair. 

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Janigan.  That's satisfactory.   We appreciate your attending this proceeding.  

     Mr. Ross?  

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. ROSS:

     MR. ROSS:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 

     TransCanada has a direct interest in this proceeding and the effect it may have on future proceedings, as it holds 38 percent of the M12 transportation service volume on the Union system.  

     TransCanada is not opposing the 399,108 gJ per day expansion in respect of the 2006 proposed facilities.  

     TransCanada has concerns, however, about the potential 1,373,833 gJ per day long-term capacity expansion described in Union's evidence, about the economic assumptions and analysis behind that capacity, about the M12 toll impact of the proposed 2006 expansion, about differences in M12 contracts and about rate premiums for M12 transportation and Union's ability to negotiate them.  

     TransCanada proposes to discuss each of these concerns, briefly, in turn.  

     With respect to economic analysis, Union's potential 1,373,833 gJ per day expansion is not, in our view, supported by long-term market analysis, and is, in our view, based on a number of assumptions.  With respect to long-term market analysis, even though they have their own EAA analysis, as was established on lines 15 through 17 of the transcript, at page 34, Union ignores the potential impacts of LNG, as well as their own previous position, taken in the North Bay junction application, that Quebec LNG would reduce natural gas flows into eastern Canadian natural gas markets.  

     Furthermore, there are many assumptions underpinning Union's long-term expansion which may not, in fact, materialize. 

     Union runs two scenarios, which are both subject to considerable uncertainty.  Union's analysis assumes that all existing M12 contracts and new M12 contracts would be renewed and in place for at least 30 years.  They also assume premiums paid by the incremental M12 shippers in this application would continue to be paid for 30 years, underpinning the revenue stream.  In one of its scenarios, Union does not include 75 percent of the cost of the incremental Dawn compression, as is indicated at the transcript at page 45, lines 9 through 13.  Finally, in another of its scenarios, Union assumes that all facilities will be built by the 11th year, as is indicated at transcript lines 14 through 17, on page 44.  

     All of these assumptions are far from certain.  

     This morning, in -- through testimony of Ms. Callingham and an undertaking U 1.1, Union introduced what is, effectively, another scenario, in this case with a 42-year time period.   Presumably, U 1.1 makes the same assumptions, only, at this time, in respect of a 42-year period.  

     There is uncertainty, underscored by that undertaking, that 100 percent of Dawn compression costs are included in Union's economic analysis.  I think we heard this morning, in Mrs. Callingham's testimony, that there are not.  

     TransCanada is concerned that -- if future demand does not materialize, that existing M12 shippers will have to bear the costs of the long-term expansion.  

     Even if their 2007 expansion materializes, Union has indicated, at lines 25 through 27 of the transcript, at page 28, that it will only be using -- that it will be using only 60 percent of the proposed incremental Dawn compression.  Union's evidence is that 75 percent of Dawn compression will be used for future growth, but there is no evidence as to when the Dawn facilities will be fully utilized.  This underlying uncertainty about Union's application causes concern to TransCanada about the long-term expansion.  

     In respect of M12 toll impact from the 2006 expansion, the record indicates that the 2006 expansion will have an impact on Union's M12 rates.   Union estimates that this impact will be approximately a five percent increase in rates.  This increased cost -- this increases costs not only for TransCanada and other M12 shippers, but also Ontario natural gas customers.  Union agreed, under cross-examination, that the annual toll impact of the proposed application on TransCanada and all M12 shippers would be 1.7 million and 5.2 million, respectively.  

     TransCanada's costs flow through to Ontario customers.  TransCanada's toll increases consequently impact Ontario customers through Union and Enbridge system supply, and impact those direct-purchase customers that hold TransCanada capacity.  

     Turning to the issue of contracts underpinning the proposed 2006 expansion, the evidence shows that there are differences between existing M12 contracts, and between existing M12 contracts and incremental M12 contracts.  These differences are in respect of, for example, renewal rights.  Accordingly, in view of these differences among contracts, and the absence of a standard tariff, M12 customers do not know whether they are being discriminated against.  

     TransCanada acknowledges and appreciates Union's commitment to fix this problem, but notes that it has not been remedied yet.  Accordingly, TransCanada recommends that the Board direct Union to develop uniform contracts as part of a standard tariff.  This standard tariff would ensure that not only are the contractual provisions identical, but would also ensure that tariff language incorporated into the contracts would be identical, resulting in all Union shippers knowing they are signing contracts on identical terms with other Union shippers.  

     In respect of the issue of M12 rate premiums, Union indicates that the only basis for its authority to negotiate rates for M12 expansion capacity arises from Ontario Board decision -- Energy Board Decision 

RP-1999-0017.  

     TransCanada disagrees that this decision gives Union such authority, for the following reasons.  Firstly, Union itself agreed, in Decision RP-1999-0017, that the Board approved a 3-year term for performance-based rates, or “PBR.”  

     Secondly, TransCanada submits that Decision 

RP-1999-0017 only applied in respect of a trial PBR period of three years, as indicated on page 134 of that decision.  That is, that decision did not provide a blanket approval to negotiate rates indefinitely.  

     Thirdly, Decision RP-1999-0017, at page 133, specifically stated and I quote:  

"... that no customers would be disadvantaged by negotiated rates during the term of the PBR plan, and that bypass threats might be mitigated by negotiating long-term reduced costs.” 

     Moreover, Union itself took the position, in that decision, as indicated at page 134, that, and I quote:

"... no one would be disadvantaged by negotiated rates, that all customers would have access to posted rates and that bypass threats would be mitigated."  

     TransCanada, therefore, submits that Decision 

RP-1999-0017 authorized Union to negotiate rate discounts, not premiums.   

     And finally, in respect of that decision, TransCanada submits that nowhere in decision RP-1999-0017 was there any mention of Union being afforded the ability to negotiate premiums for long-term firm transportation service.  

     In the record, Union indicates that, for past expansions, bid-evaluation criteria for acquiring transport capacity on the Trafalgar system was not required.  And I would state that this is found in tab 1, Interrogatory 20.   The result was that customers willing to bid a minimum term and the posted M12 tolls would be assured of getting M12 capacity.    

     Union's new approach, set out in this proceeding, is that, and I quote from Tab 1, Interrogatory 12:  

“M12 shippers who value capacity the most should receive that capacity." 

     Mr. Chairman, Union seems to have moved away from offering expansion capacity to shippers who are willing to contract for a minimum term and pay posted rates and is moving towards introducing rate premiums and longer‑term contracts into their bid evaluation criteria in this application.


Indeed, as Mr. Isherwood agreed, at page 82, lines 6 through 9 of the transcript, this has created a situation whereby rate premiums ranged as high as 78 percent.


Parties are left to wonder what the criteria might be for acquiring capacity in the next facilities application.  TransCanada submits that the result is uncertainty about what a market participant must do to obtain capacity.


It also appears that different allocation criteria apply to in‑franchise and ex‑franchise customers.  Mr. Hyatt indicated, at page 69, lines 19 through 23 of the transcript, that if in‑franchise demand was expected in any given year, that in-franchise customers would not be required to pay a premium to ensure service.


TransCanada submits that Union is proposing to charge market‑based rates where the market has not been shown to be competitive.  TransCanada further submits that as a matter of policy, that where there is market power there must be a cost‑based recourse rate to protect customers against market power.  


As first docket RM 95‑6‑000 and RM 96‑7‑000 indicates, and I quote:   

"The availability of a recourse service would prevent pipelines from exercising market power by asserting that the customer can fall back on cost‑based traditional service if the pipeline unilaterally demands excessive prices or withholds service."


Absent a recourse rate, the potential exists for a pipeline to exercise market power.  TransCanada submits that Union is in the situation to exercise market power and the OEB should direct, in this decision, that Union make cost‑based rates available for the protection of M12 customers when open seasons are held for expansion facilities.


My learned colleague this morning has made some discussion as to whether the question of premiums should be dealt with by this Board in the natural gas forum or rate case.  TransCanada would submit that we're in the Board's hands on this matter, but note that Union has already had two open seasons for capacity, wherein they invited parties to bid a premium to move “higher up the line,” in my learned friend's words.  So our concern is that this matter be dealt with as soon as possible, in whichever forum this Board sees fit.


In conclusion, Mr. Chairman, TransCanada is not opposed to the facilities requested in Union's current application, but has some concerns respecting the analysis and assumptions underpinning the potential 1,373,833 gJ per day future expansion; concerns about M12 toll impacts on TransCanada and Ontario customers; concerns about contracting; and concerns about M12 rate premiums.


Accordingly, TransCanada makes the following recommendations:  Firstly, that future expansion proposals be supported by market studies, which include potential additional sources of supply, such as LNG, as well as reasonable contract volume and renewal assumptions; secondly, that the Board direct Union to develop uniform contracts as part of a standard tariff for M12 transportation contracts; thirdly, that this Board establish, or direct Union to establish, standard rules for accessing M12 expansion capacity, which include the criteria that shippers bidding a specified minimum term and willing to pay the Board-approved posted M12 toll should be assured of acquiring their requested capacity, or at least its pro-rata share of available capacity where available capacity is less than requested capacity.  


Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Those are my comments, subject to any comments you may have.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Ross.  Mr. Gruenbauer?  Mr. Rowe?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. ROWE:

MR. ROWE:  Mr. Chairman, Ms. Nowina, Enbridge Gas Distribution supports approval of Union's 2006 Dawn-Trafalgar leave to construct application.


We require 106,000 gJs per day of additional M12 capacity to meet the projected daily and seasonal load balancing requirements of our franchise areas.  The need for the facilities is further supported by the long-term contracts listed in the attachment to Board Staff's Interrogatory No. 22.  


With facility additions in 2007, the Trafalgar expansion project has a PI of 1.02 and will benefit all existing customers.  That's from the Undertaking 1.1 from this morning.


However, Enbridge is concerned about the -- excuse me, Enbridge is concerned about the cost implications for our customers of a premium to the cost base M12 toll for a pipeline facility that is the sole link between Enbridge's franchise areas and storage facilities located near Dawn.


In Procedural Order No. 1 for this case, the Board directed that the services that Union would provide utilizing the proposed facilities, rates and contractual terms for these services, and transportation capacity allocation are policy issues beyond the scope of a leave to construct, and, as such, may be more appropriately dealt with by the Board in a generic policy process.  Enbridge Gas Distribution urges the Board to establish the procedural dates for this review of all aspects of the proposed premium at the earliest possible date.


Subject to any questions you may have, Mr. Chairman, those are my submissions.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, sir.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. GRUENBAUER:  


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  The City of Kitchener respectfully submits that Union Gas be granted leave by the Board to construct the natural gas facilities and ancillary facilities as requested in Union's application.  Based on Union's evidence, the need for the facilities is justified and supported by long-term contracts with creditworthy counter-parties, including the City of Kitchener, if I may be so bold.  


We would expect the 2006 facilities expansion would assist, to some degree, in de-bottlenecking the so‑called Ontario transportation triangle, and that this de-bottlenecking would generally serve both private and public interests.


The economic analysis provided by Union indicates the 2006 facilities expansion is feasible, particularly in conjunction with further facilities expansions that are planned for 2007 and beyond, subject, of course, to subsequent review and approval by the Board.  Projected impact on existing M12 transportation rates from the 2006 facilities expansion is relatively modest.  We see no evidence of rate shock in this application.


To the extent we have some reservations about Union's application, those reservations relate to the issue of a market premium above the posted M12 transportation rate.  Customers wishing to contract with Union for transportation services, particularly in‑franchise customers such as the City of Kitchener, should not be denied access to those services at the posted rate unless there is compelling evidence to do otherwise.


The evidence presented in these proceedings indicates that many in‑franchise customers desire to buy gas supply at the liquid Dawn hub and arrange firm transportation of Parkway to satisfy their contractual obligations to Union to deliver gas at Parkway.  Kitchener agrees with that evidence.  


Mr. Isherwood indicated to me yesterday, and I apologize I don't have the transcript reference, that the contractual obligation to deliver gas at Parkway is not going away any time soon, and I took that to mean for the longer term.  This strongly suggests that firm transportation from Dawn to Parkway should be available as an option to in‑franchise customers, such as the City of Kitchener, to meet their obligation to deliver gas at Parkway.  Service should be available to customers at the posted rate and not be impeded or denied by Union under an open-season process that seeks to extract a market premium above the posted rate.  We should be able to walk openly through that doorway and not have it closed in our face simply because we did not bid a premium rate for what is, fundamentally, a regulated service.


Because I'm not a lawyer, Mr. Chairman, I'm not sure if it is necessary or proper to say so in these proceedings, but we would respectfully reserve our right to make further submissions on the issues of rates and premiums and so forth in the appropriate forum, as Mr. Leslie alluded to in his argument in‑chief.  And for the reasons just cited by Mr. Ross, we support his submissions that these rate-making issues be determined by the Board as expeditiously as possible.


Kitchener has no submissions on the environmental and land issues in this application, other than to note that the draft conditions of approval provided to Union by Board Staff last week appear to us to be reasonable. 

     Thank you, Mr. Chairman and Ms. Nowina.  

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, sir. 

     Mr. Scully? 

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. SCULLY:

     MR. SCULLY:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 

     FONOM and the Cities of Timmins and Greater Sudbury would, first of all, support the submissions of VECC with regard to the way in which M12 revenues are to be taken into account in Union's general revenue receipts.  And we would ask that the Board make a specific observation to that effect, or give a direction in their decision, as a condition of approval of the facilities.  

     We would also join with TransCanada Pipelines in urging the Board to direct Union Gas to prepare a standard form of M12 contract, to make sure that there is a level playing-field there for all participants.  

     We are concerned with the question of the premium that Union has extracted in this case.  And our -- that concern flows from our being aware that, one way or another, it probably is going to flow through to customers in our territories.  It is a bit mysterious, how much, where and when.  But given that, we would ask the Board to, in their decision - and I'm not sure how you can do this - see that it is dealt with as soon as possible.  

     Our concern here is that we're in a very fluid situation with Union's rates.  It looks as though we're not going to have a full hearing until sometime in 2006 for 2007 rates, and that's a long time for this sort of thing to float around, undetermined.  So, if there is any mechanism for seeing it dealt with earlier than that, we would urge the Board to take it.  

     In conclusion, we approve -- we recommend that the Board approve the facilities construction applied for by Union Gas.   

     Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Scully. 

     Mr. Millar?  

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. MILLAR:

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  

     On the first four issues on the Board staff proposed issues list, we have heard a great deal of evidence and submissions from the parties, so I don't propose to add anything to that.  I think the Board has probably heard all it needs to hear on that, and can reach a decision without any submission from me.  

     I do propose to deal with the final four issues, because we haven't heard as much about those, but, again, I will be brief.  

     The first issue is the environmental matters.  And, as we've heard, most of the required reports have been completed, and most of the approvals have been obtained, as well.  But we did hear there are a few outstanding reports and matters that are ongoing:  specifically, today, we heard about some archeological matters, and I believe there are one or two other outstanding reports.  

     Board Staff doesn't necessarily have any concerns about this, and we do note that, in the proposed conditions, all of these reports and approvals would be required.  So, as long as those -- as long as that makes it into the conditions, we don't have any objections.  

     On the proposed route and alternative, it appears that the proposed route is almost certain to be the actual route, if leave is granted to construct here.  We've heard that there are no changes anticipated to the route, and, unless there is -- something totally comes out of the blue, it is not anticipated there will be any changes.  So Board Staff don't have anything to add on that matter.  

     On land-related matters, we heard today a little bit about the easements.  On the Brooke-Strathroy line, apparently, all of the land matters have been dealt with.  On the Hamilton-Milton portion of the line, Mr. Leslie indicated there were seven outstanding easements.  I thought I heard eight earlier, but maybe that took into account the Munro property.  In any event, there are seven or eight outstanding.  We’ve heard that the applicant is optimistic that all but one of those should be settled.  And, if the one property -- if no agreement is reached with that landowner, the applicant would have the option of seeking an expropriation.  

     We have looked at the form of the easement and, as you heard today, there are two forms of the easement, one for the Strathroy portion and the other for the Hamilton-Milton portion.  We have heard that, essentially, the same agreement has been offered to all of the landowners -- one of those two forms has been offered to all of the landowners.  Board Staff have reviewed these documents, and we don't have any problem with them, and don't see any reason that the Board shouldn't approve the form of the easements.  

     With regard to other permits and approvals, I guess maybe this could be a segue into the conditions.  Prior to the hearing, we sent out a draft set of conditions.  Essentially, it's -- we sent out -- they’re very similar conditions to all of these leave-to-construct applications.  So I know that Mr. Leslie has had an opportunity to review them, and I believe my friends have received them, as well.  

     We haven't received any comments.  

     We did add one -- Board Staff has taken the liberty of adding one condition.  This arises out of the in-camera session we had today, regarding the Munro property.  We did add one condition to deal with that.  

     I don't think Mr. Leslie has seen it, because we were just finishing it up as we started this afternoon.  So I am not sure how the Board proposes we deal with this.  Certainly, I would like Mr. Leslie and the other parties to look at the condition.  I don't believe it gets in, at all, to any of the confidential matters.  So I don't think Mr. Leslie will have an objection, but I could show it to him first, if he would prefer, before anyone else see it.  But I am wondering -- it's possible there may be some submissions on that condition, or the conditions in general, though I haven't heard any other comments on the conditions.  

     So I -- Mr. Leslie, would you like us to provide it to you, first?  And I presume you would like to look through the wording.  We had discussed in the in-camera session that a condition would be drafted.  

     MR. LESLIE:  Yes.  My understanding was not that it would be a condition of approval, so much as the Board noting in its decision that it would retain jurisdiction over this matter, for the purposes contemplated by the agreement that had been filed.  

     There is really nothing to hold up approval.  It's a question of, once the approval has been granted, having some means of having recourse to the Board if there is a need to do that.  It may not be necessary.  But it's not a condition precedent, in the sense that some of the other conditions are.  

     I don't really care.  It may be form over substance, but that was my understanding of how it would be dealt with.  

     All I think is necessary is for the Board to note that there was an agreement filed, and that it will retain jurisdiction to the extent necessary to deal with the matters contemplated by that agreement.  

     MR. KAISER:  One question on that:  the version of the agreement you showed us this morning didn't appear to be signed by your client.  

     MR. LESLIE:  I don't have it, but if it isn't, it will be.   Mr. Wilton's signature should have been on it.  

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  I may have --

     So as far as -- what you're advising us is, in fact, the agreement has been signed by all the parties? 

     MR. LESLIE:  Oh, yes. 

     MR. KAISER:  It has been entered into? 

     MR. LESLIE:  Yes.  

     MR. KAISER:  I may have misread that.  It looks --

     MR. LESLIE:  No.  It was signed by Union Gas this morning, at the same time as, I believe, Mr. Waque signed off for his clients. 

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  I happened to look at one page, and it looked like it was missing a signature, but -- in any event -- no, you're right.  I was looking at the wrong line.  

     All right.  Well, I don't think we have any -- 

     Do you have any submissions on this, Mr. Millar?  As to whether we need --

     MR. MILLAR:  I think the important matter is that the Board indicates that it’s retaining jurisdiction of this matter.  Whether it’s in a condition or if it’s part of the decision, I will leave that to the Board.  

     MR. KAISER:   All right.  Well, we'll deal with that.  Let's do it the easy way.  Let's take it out, then we don't have to discuss it.  We’ll deal with it in the decision, and deal with the really relevant aspect of this, which is the Board seizing -- continuing to be seized of the matter.  

     And I take it, with respect to the other conditions, that those have all been circulated and approved by all the parties 

     MR. MILLAR:  They have all been circulated, and I haven't received any comments --

     MR. KAISER:   Right.

     MR. MILLAR:  -- from anybody.  And I didn't hear any comments in the closing remarks.  So, although I didn't canvass each of my friends, I assume that that means that there are no issues related to the conditions.  

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Ross, have you looked at the proposed conditions? 

     MR. ROSS:  No, sir, I have not.  

     MR. KAISER:  Do you want to? 

     MR. ROSS:  No, sir, I don't think it is an issue for us.   Thank you.  

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  

     Any further submissions, Mr.  Millar? 

     MR. MILLAR:  No, thank you, Mr. Chair.  

     MR. KAISER:  Any reply, Mr. Leslie? 

     MR. LESLIE:  Yes, just briefly, sir.  

REPLY SUBMISSIONS BY MR. LESLIE:  

     MR. LESLIE:  With respect to the economic analysis, and, in particular, the long-term analysis that TCPL has referred to, I will point out the analysis is being done in exactly the same way it has been done in all of these cases for a number of years, and that really the only factor that TCPL could point to that might make a difference, looking into the future, and this is a ‑‑ I mean, it is a highly discussed and a highly contentious subject, but the only thing they pointed to was the imports of LNG and what the effect of that might be, to the extent that LNG finds its way into the Quebec markets.


As I said in my argument in‑chief, Mr. Isherwood, in my submission, dealt with that, I thought, quite well.  So I don't think there is any basis, in this record, for an order of the kind or a recommendation of the kind that Mr. Ross suggested, the need to have comprehensive studies of market conditions going into the future in order to support an application to build facilities which are of a more limited nature.  


As to compression costs, that compressor, the Dawn compressor, will be used for transportation and storage, and all of the costs will be accounted for.  Twenty-five percent have been allocated to this project, because that's the amount that is actually required for this project.  The rest will become used and useful shortly.  


And, as Ms. Callingham testified, buying the larger compressor was the economic decision.  She indicated that there was a saving of approximately $6 million in buying a compressor of the size that was purchased now as opposed to spreading that purchase out and buying two compressors over time.  


I'm sorry, I don't have the reference for that, but I know it is in the evidence and I can find it for you, if you would like.


Union testified that they were working to standardize M12 contracts, and my submission is that to the extent that there is a need for that, it is being addressed.


With respect to the premium, we've heard a lot of rhetoric about this and exacting prices and things of that kind.  We are talking about a relatively modest amount of money.  It may have a more significant effect on individual customers, but they're not the customers that are here complaining about this.


The alternatives that are being put forth, i.e., recourse rates, are appropriate in different circumstances, but what it all amounts to, in the circumstance in which Union found itself, would be prospectively, at least, pro-rationing.  There are a number of reasons why pro-rationing was not an attractive option, and that means you have to go to some other option.  


If you look at the TCPL tariffs, you will find that they do it on the basis of rates and distance, which, in the end, it is just money and time.  Union did it on this basis.  There may be a different way of doing it that's preferable to anyone, but there has to be some means for ranking, and I think Mr. Isherwood dealt, reasonably, with why they selected the alternative they did.


As to what needs to be dealt with in this case, my submission, again, is that these are issues that require more fulsome treatment and a more extensive debate, and I think the Board recognized that in its procedural order, its initial procedural order.  


The Board, perhaps in anticipation of some of these matters, said that it would review the need for the proposed expansion - that is, these facilities - and the costs and the economics of these facilities and the construction, environmental and land‑related matters.  However, it went on to say that it would lead for a different hearing.  


The services that Union would provide, utilizing the proposed facilities, the rates, the contractual terms for those services and the transportation capacity allocation, the Board said those were policies beyond the scope of a leave to construct proceeding and, as such, may be appropriately dealt with by the Board in a generic policy process.  And I'm assuming that that may be a reference to the natural gas forum process that is ongoing, but at the very least, it is something that would be more appropriately, in my submission, again, in a rate case, which deals with these kinds of matters.


We confirm we do find the conditions of approval acceptable and, subject to any questions, those are my submissions.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Leslie.  

Anything further, Mr. Millar?


MR. MILLAR:  No, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  We will come back at 2 o'clock with our decision.


‑‑‑ Luncheon recess taken at 12:45 p.m.
     --- On resuming at 2:15 p.m. 

     MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  

     Decision:   

     MR. KAISER:  Any preliminary matters, Mr. Millar?  

     MR. MILLAR:  No, Mr. Chair, not that I am aware of.  

     MR. KAISER:  I'm going to distribute an outline of the 

decision together with some schedules which will be attached to the decision.  If you could do that.  

Outline of Decision – Trafalgar 2006
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9. Conditions

Schedules

A. Proposed NPS 48 Brooke to Strathroy

B. Proposed NPS 48 Hamilton to Milton

C. Allocation of Capacity

D. DCF Analysis 2006 Trafalgar System Expansion

E. Conditions of Approval

The Application

     Yesterday and today, the Board had an Application, filed with the Board on February 8th of this year by Union Gas, requesting orders under Section 9 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, granting leave to construct two sections of natural gas pipeline along with associated compressor station modifications. 

     The proposed facilities consist of the construction of 18.2 kilometres of 48-inch diameter steel natural gas pipeline, in the Counties of Lambton and Middlesex and 17.1 kilometres of 48-inch diameter steel natural gas pipeline in the City of Hamilton and throughout the region of Halton.  

     In addition to the construction of these two pipelines, Union will upgrade the existing Parkway compressor and install further compression at its Dawn compressor station.  Construction of these proposed facilities is to meet new capacity requirements required to meet the increasing gas demands of the company's current and future customers.  

     For the reasons which follow, the Board finds this 

Application to be in the public interest, pursuant to Section 96 of the Act, and accordingly will grant the requested leave to construction.  

     A number of issues, however, were raised with respect to this Application and the Board will deal with them in turn.  

Demand for Capacity

     The first issue relates to the demand for the capacity.  In this connection, it's to be noted that the company held what are called “non-binding open seasons” and requested bids for capacity.  They found, pursuant to that process, that the entire capacity of the contemplated expansion, at least the ‘06 portion of it, would be contracted for.  All of the capacity could be sold, as it were, although it's worth pointing out that none of the customers were left with unmet demands.  

     Attached as Schedule A and Schedule B to this Decision are two maps outlining the two proposed pipeline constructions.  Schedule A is the proposed NPS-48, Brooke to Strathroy and Schedule B is the proposed NPS-48, Hamilton to Milton.  

     Schedule C of this Decision is a response, to interrogatory number 22.  That demonstrates the way in which the capacity was allocated.  The incremental contracted capacity amounts to 663,624 GJ per day in total. 

     There was an issue in this connection with respect to the demand studies conducted by the Applicant. This point was made, in particular, by TransCanada Pipelines, an intervenor in this proceeding.  As will become apparent in these reasons, this particular project and the economics of it are really related to subsequent projects.  Those subsequent projects, of course, are also related to forecasts of additional demand requirements.  These are 30-year, long-term projects.  In fact, one of the economic studies uses a 42-year period.  

     In that connection, TransCanada argues that the company, in these leave to construct applications the Applicant, should be required to produce more generic or detailed demand forecasts.  They pointed to the possibility that LNG flowing into eastern markets from Quebec and the Atlantic region might reduce the demand for this pipeline, and this proposed pipeline expansion.  

     The three main customers for this capacity are TransCanada, an intervenor, Enbridge, an intervenor, and GMI, a Quebec utility which was not present in these proceedings.  It is the Applicant's position that regardless of what LNG volumes may ultimately end up in this market, this additional capacity will be required to move gas from Union storage to Dawn.  The Board accepts that submission.  

     Accordingly, least with respect to the '06 expansion, there seems to be adequate demand for the anticipated volumes, which, as I have indicated, is approximately 663,000 GJs a day.  

Economics of the Project

     We turn next to the economics of the project.  

Union's evidence in this regard is set out in section 5.  As part of the 2006 Trafalgar system expansion, Union will be constructing the following facilities at a total cost of 149 million:  The Brooke to Strathroy section, which I have described, has an estimated capital cost of some 46.7 million; the Hamilton to Milton section has an estimated capital cost of approximately 68 Million; the Parkway compressor upgrade is .864 million; the Dawn compressor has an estimated capital cost of almost 34 million dollars.  

     Only the two pipelines require leave to construct approval and are subject to this Application.  

     Union, when they are evaluating the economics of pipeline expansion proposals employ a three-stage test.  That test is set out by this Board in the EBO 134 Report on System Expansion.  And the procedures followed and methodology that has been followed by the Applicant in this case is consistent with those guidelines.  

     Stage one consists of a discounted cash flow analysis.  Initially, the results of the stage 1 DCF analysis, which is in schedule 7 of the evidence, indicated a cumulative negative net present value of $21 million and a profitability index, or PI, of .83.  The general rule is if the PI is not at least 1, the project is not economic.  

     All these cash flows, of course, are discounted.  However, as the evidence in this case progressed, it became apparent that other expansions were contemplated.  There was the additional one in '07, which I have mentioned, related to an expansion of Strathroy to Lobo, and further investment in the Parkway compressor.  As I indicated previously, the Applicant says that they've already held a non-binding open season with respect to that planned capacity.  The demand for the expansion looks very firm and they expect to be filing an Application.  

    There are further expansions and investments.  In 2009, there is an additional proposed investment in the Bright compressor, and in 2018 additional capital expenditures on the Lobo compressor and a pipeline from Brantford to Kirkwall.  

     This material is all set out in undertaking U1.1, which was filed today.  It is attached to this Decision as Schedule “D”.   Of course, with these additional expansions in, 07, 09 and '18, additional volumes come on stream and this has the effect of increasing the profitability.  And, in fact, as that exhibit indicates, with the entire expansion contemplated, the resulting long-term PI for all projects rises to 1.13.


Once the 2007 facilities alone are completed, the PI becomes 1.02 and is, therefore, a positive number.


The Applicant has also argued that the Board, in considering these economic analyses, should bear in mind that they have assumed a rate of 7.7 cents a GJ per day, in terms of valuing the revenue streams that flow from these increased gas volumes.  They point out that the range in these M12 rates is anywhere from 7 to 10 cents and that they could have just as easily have used a rate of 8.4 cents as a method of valuing the gas.  In that case, of course, the economics improve and the PI, in fact, would increase to 1.24 compared to the 1.13 referenced earlier.


There is one additional issue that deserves comment.  Some of the parties, particularly VECC and Mr. Janigan, are concerned with the expenditure on the Dawn compression, which, as indicated previously, is not an insignificant amount.  It is almost $34 million.  Some 25 percent of that expenditure was allocated to the '06 expansion. The rest of it, of course, would be picked up later.  


There was some concern about where that remaining expense would be allocated.  Mr. Leslie, on behalf of the Applicant, pointed to the evidence that showed that while Union is buying a much larger compressor at this point, it was economic to do that, even though it wouldn't all be used initially.  Only 25 percent of it would be used initially.  However, by purchasing the larger unit as opposed to breaking it up into smaller units, the Applicant would save approximately $6 million.  The Board accepts that evidence and finds that economic analysis supports the leave to construct application.

Environmental Concerns


Turning to the matters of the environment: there was not a great deal of evidence on this.  There is extensive written evidence filed, but there wasn't much oral evidence.  Ms. MacMillan was here to speak to volume 2.  Mr. Wesenger was here to speak to volume 3.  


The Applicant also filed as Exhibit D2.3 the report to Union Gas from what is referred to as the OPCC.  This which we are advised is a form of review body with both utility members and non‑utility members.  That letter has been filed, and it confirmed that the OPCC had completed the final review of the environmental reports and considered them satisfactory.


The Applicant also filed a revised answer to Interrogatory No. 69 in the course of these proceedings, which showed a summary of the OPCC review.  It appears from the evidence that there are no environmental roadblocks.  In any event, we have the evidence of the Applicant's witnesses, and they were all of the same mind on this, that in the event any developments occurred, Union would take whatever steps were necessary by way of mitigation to meet the concerns of the remaining environmental authorities.  


And it's worth noting in passing that this Order will go with certain conditions.  One of those conditions, which I will come to in a moment, refers to adequately meeting all of the environmental assessment requirements.

Landowner Concerns


We then turn to the interests of the landowners.  There was extensive evidence on this issue.  First, with respect to the Brooke to Strathroy pipeline, it would appear there are no outstanding issues.  In February 2003, the Applicant reached an agreement with the landowners' committee that apparently resolved all of the issues for that section of pipe.


With respect to the Hamilton to Milton section, the matter is a little bit different.  There are seven outstanding negotiations, and it appears, in the opinion of the company, that they will all be resolved, with the possibility of one, Mr. Rozakis.  The Applicant has indicated in the event that the Rozakis negotiations don't progress, they would apply to the OMB following the granting of the leave to construct by this Board for expropriation.  Union further indicated that they don't expect that to delay this project beyond the current schedule.


There was evidence, as well, with respect to the particular concerns of Ian and Jayne Munro of Campbellville.  During the course of this proceeding, Mr. Leslie on behalf of Union and Mr. Waque on behalf of the Munros were able to reach an agreement that appears to resolve that matter.  That agreement is filed as a confidential exhibit with this Board.  


It's worth noting here that one of the requirements of that agreement is that, in the event of any disputes, the parties would be able to come back to the Board. The Applicant has asked that, for that purpose, the Board remain seized of that.  The Board agrees to do that.


There was an earlier suggestion in this proceeding, perhaps by myself, that in the event of a dispute, it might go to the Board’s Chief Compliance Officer.  On review, we believe it best that in the event either of the parties needs to avail themselves of that particular section of the agreement, they come back to this panel.  So we will leave it on that basis.


There is, of course, a requirement in section 97 of the Act that landowners be offered a form of agreement that's been approved by the Board.  As we understand it, there are in fact two forms of agreement.  The two different sections of pipe have different agreements, but the company is indicating they are making steps to standardize those.  The first form of agreement of course arose out of that landowner settlement back in February of 2003, which I referred to.


The Hamilton to Milton form of agreement is somewhat different.  Nonetheless for this purpose the Board finds the requirements of section 97 have been met by the Applicant.

Rate Impact


We then come to the next topic: Rate Impact.  This is set out in the Applicant's response to Interrogatory 43, where it is indicated that there will be a negative impact or a decrease with respect to the rates of residential customers.  There will be approximately a 5 percent increase in rate of the M12 customers, for a total of approximately $5.2 million.


TransCanada has pointed out that they are one of the largest customers for this service, and that when they incur a rate increase for transmission from Union, they ultimately end up passing it on to their other customers, which include Enbridge and Union.  So there is no question that these rates ultimately do trickle down.


But the fact of the matter is that, on the evidence, the capacity is required.  Enbridge supports this Application; TransCanada is perhaps not as enthusiastic on that note, but they do not oppose it.  Enbridge, in particular, pointed out that this capacity is required, and capacity of course comes at some price and that price gets reflected in rates.


In these days, it is important to recall - and evidence has been tendered on this - that future electricity requirements in this province may be increasingly dependent on gas and, therefore, these transmission facilities may become critical in that regard. The Board is mindful that everything must be done to avoid bottlenecks, as possible.

Rate Premiums


The next topic I would like to turn to is what I will call rate premiums.  This was perhaps the most extensive topic.  This is something that all of the parties seem to have some concern with.


In these proceedings, the Applicant filed the existing M12 tariff.  It was filed as a response to interrogatory 7(d) as part of tab 5.  I'm not sure whose interrogatory that is.  In any event, this tariff, which became effective on January 1st of '04 states that:  

“The identified rates represent maximum prices for service.  These rates may change periodically.  Multi-year prices may also be negotiated which may be higher or lower than the identified rates. " 

     Now, the reason this became an issue is that, as indicated, the Applicant held a non-binding open season to determine what the demand for this '06 expansion capacity was.  And in order to allocate that demand - and we've attached to this decision Schedule C - they allowed bidders to bid both in contract terms, or in other words a minimum of ten years, and also in terms of price.  In other words bidders could bid a premium.  And on that basis, the Applicant could rank the offers.  

     The Applicant took pains to point out that it wasn't negotiating rates in this open season process.  It was accepting tenders or bids.  It wasn't exercising any market power.  The Applicant argued that it used both premiums and term, because some of the potential customers were barred from contracting for longer terms and therefore would be disadvantaged in the process.  So by this process they had the ability to offer a premium.  

     And in some cases the premiums were substantial.  In total, the premiums were some $143,000, which, in the scheme of things, as Mr. Leslie points out, is not a significant amount.  Nonetheless, there is a general concern, and this was expressed by most of the intervenors, that this process was not appropriate and should cease, if not in the course of this process in some other process.  

     The argument for that, and this was led by TransCanada, was that when these rates went into effect, they were pursuant to a decision of this Board back in July 21st of 2001.  This was called RP 1991-0017.  And in that decision, at page 131, the Board stated:   

“The company proposed to deem all volumes sold at the negotiated price to be billed at the posted rate for the purpose of proving that the annual rate changes comply with price cap constraints.  Any variances in the revenues from differences between negotiated rates and posted rates would be managed by the company.  Unless specifically excluded in the negotiated terms, the negotiated price would be subject to pass-throughs and non-routine adjustments." 

     The Board then made a finding at page 133, and this is at paragraph 2.469:   

“The Board agrees that, provided any revenue variances resulting from differences between negotiated rates and posted rates are for the shareholders' account, no customers would be disadvantaged by the negotiated rates during the term of the PBR plan and that bypass threats might be mitigated by negotiating long-term reduced costs.  Therefore, the Board grants Union the authority to negotiate rates and offer long-term fixed contracts." 

     The argument made by TransCanada is that this provision for negotiated rates ought to be limited to the term of this decision, which was a three-year PBR plan for the years 2001 and 2003.  Clearly it has gone beyond that, and the tariff which I referred to as interrogatory response 7(d) is an example.  That particular tariff flows out of a March 18th, 2004 Decision of this Board; RP 2003-0063.  

     In that decision, it turns out, there is no mention of this matter of rate premiums or negotiated rates.  The Board obviously did not turn its mind to this matter.  

     In the context of this particular case, the amount is small, as I've said, $143,000, and the evidence of the witness is that in any event none of that premium is going to the shareholder, it's all going to the M12 customers.  In fact, it will be applied to the cost of this particular project.  

     The other matter that is worth pointing out is that this Board - and this was referred to by Mr. Leslie in his argument - has issued a Procedural Order, which in fact contemplated that this might become an issue.  The Board stated, quite properly, that, as Mr. Leslie in fact argues, that this is not a simple issue and ought to be considered by this Board in the context of a more generic hearing.  And we are confident that the Board will deal with it in that fashion.  

     So for the purposes of this case, this Panel doesn't believe it is necessary for us to make any judgment or decision with respect to these M12 premiums.  The Board has contemplated a procedure for dealing with this issue.  It will be done in a timely fashion, and we are confident of that.  We are confident that this isn't a large amount in any event and, ultimately, is not going to the shareholder in any event. 

     There was a collateral issue with respect to this matter that arose.  It was dealt with by a number of parties, certainly Mr. Scully dealt with it, in addition Mr. Ross for TransCanada.  That was the question of standard form contracts.  Apparently there are M12 customers with different contracts, and there is some question of whether they even know whether they're being discriminated against because the terms of these contracts, as I understand it, are confidential.  

     So the submission was made by a number of parties that Union should move towards a standard form contract.  There is obviously some merit in that, but the Board notes that Union has undertaken to do that in any event, and is moving towards that.  

     So it would not appear necessary for this Board to take any steps in that direction at this particular time, given our understanding on the evidence that Union is moving towards standard form contract for its M12 customers.  

Conditions

     The last matter relates to certain conditions.  These conditions have been distributed to the Applicant and the interested parties previously.  They are set out in Schedule E of this decision. 

     The conditions do not deal with the issue of further demand studies.  We have some interest and some sympathy for the submissions of the intervenors, particularly TransCanada, that the Board direct the Applicant in future leave to construct applications, to provide more detailed demand forecasts, whereby they would evaluate such things as the effect of LNG coming into the province from Quebec and other sources.  

     This Board is confident that that matter can be dealt with by Board Staff and the intervenors at the time of the next Union leave to construct application.  We're of the view that there will be a leave to construct application coming soon with respect to the '07 expansion, and that matter can be dealt with at that time.  But the Board certainly takes note of the request of TransCanada and others with respect to this.  It seems to the Board that there is nothing wrong with having more detailed data on demand forecasts in order to determine whether pipeline expansion requirements are justified or not.    

     The other conditions are set out and they are attached to this decision as schedule E.  We are advised that the parties are in agreement.  They require that all the environmental requirements be met before construction proceed, as well as all easement matters.  It would appear, from the evidence, that there is no expected problem in that area.  

     Accordingly, the Board's decision in this matter is that the application for leave to construct these two pipeline facilities is granted, subject to the conditions described in schedule E.  

     Applications were made for costs by VECC and, I believe by Mr. Scully.  Those cost applications are granted and will be dealt with in the usual course.  Any questions?  

     MR. LESLIE:  No, sir, thank you.  

     MR. MILLAR:  No, sir. 

     MR. KAISER:  The Board would like to thank counsel for their assistance, particularly you, Mr. Leslie and Mr. Waque, in settling that Munro matter.  That was very helpful and saved everyone a lot of time.  

     Thank you very much.  

     --- Whereupon hearing adjourns at 2:50 p.m. 
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